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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

The District Court had subject matter jurisdiction over these claims pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

§ 3231, which grants original jurisdiction over all offenses against the laws of the United States.  

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291, which grants appellate review of final 

judgments from the federal district courts. A final judgment was entered by the District Court of 

New Union on May 15th, 2019 and Notice of Appeal was timely filed. 

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

I. Whether Greenlawn has the right, as a riparian landowner, to continue water 

withdrawals for municipal purposes during a drought without any water conservation 

measures?  

II. Whether the operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works during drought conditions to 

provide flow to Greenlawn is a discretionary action subject to the consultation 

requirement within § 7 of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1536?  

III. Whether Greenlawn’s withdrawal of nearly all of the drought-reduced flow from the 

Howard Runnet Dam Works constitutes a “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel 

in violation of § 9 of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1538? 

IV. Whether the District Court must balance the equities before enjoining a beneficial 

municipal activity, when the activity will cause the extirpation of an entire population 

of an endangered species?  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In reviewing a district court's decision to grant summary judgment, the court of appeals 

examines the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and applies a de novo 

standard of review to ensure that the substantive law was correctly applied. Adjustrite Sys., Inc. v. 
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GAB Bus. Servs., Inc., 145 F.3d 543 (2d Cir. 1998). Additionally, the district court's factual 

findings are reviewed for clear error and will only be reversed if the findings leave this Court with 

a "definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made." United States v. Tilmon, 19 F.3d 

1221, 1224 (7th Cir. 1994). Mixed questions of law and fact are reviewed de novo. United States 

v. Gevedon, 214 F.3d 807, 810 (7th Cir. 2000).  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 The material facts are undisputed. The City of Greenlawn (“Greenlawn”) is situated on 

both banks of the Green River Bypass Reach (“Bypass Reach”) and has maintained municipal 

water intakes in the Bypass Reach since it was founded in 1893. District Court Record at 5. 

Greenlawn is a largely residential city with a very small downtown and uses the Bypass Reach 

waters to serve its one hundred thousand resident's needs. Id. In 1947, the Army Corps of Engineers 

(“ACOE”) constructed the Howard Runnet Dam Works for the explicit purposes of flood control, 

hydroelectric power, and recreational usage. Id. at 5-6.  The Howard Runnet Dam Works included 

two dams, the main Howard Runnet Dam situated on Howard Runnet Lake and a diversion dam 

which restricted the amount of water which flowed through the Bypass Reach to the City of 

Greenlawn. Id. The Diversion Dam was created for the purpose of feeding the Howard Runnet 

Lake and assuring there was sufficient water for use by the Howard Runnet Dam. Id.  

Because the Diversion Dam cut off the natural flow of water through the Bypass Reach to 

Greenlawn, the ACOE and Greenlawn entered into an agreement in which ACOE guaranteed to 

Greenlawn that it would maintain water flows in the Bypass Reach sufficient to allow Greenlawn 

to continue water withdrawals “in such quantities and at such rates and times as it is entitled to as 

a riparian property owner under the laws of the State of New Union.” Id. at 6. The agreement was 

entered into in 1947 at the completion of the Howard Runnet Dam Works. Id. The Howard Runnet 
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Dam Works are governed by the Water Control Manual (“WCM”) which established parameters 

for water releases through the Diversion Dam to reach target lake water levels and supply sufficient 

water to Greenlawn based on the time of year and weather conditions. Id. The WCM contains a 

provision which states “At all times the Howard Runnet Dam Works shall be operated in a manner 

that complies with any water supply agreements entered into by the United States Army Corps of 

Engineers, and with the riparian rights of property owners established under New Union law.” Id. 

at 7-8.  

In the Spring of 2017, due to a drought across the region, the ACOE instituted flow 

restrictions resulting in a reduction of the water flow through the Bypass Reach through the 

operation of the Diversion Dam. The resulting flow of water to Greenlawn was 7 cubic feet per 

second (CFS) Id. at 8. Greenlawn immediately protested the reduction in the flow caused by ACOE 

asserting that 7 CFS was not sufficient to allow for Greenlawn to continue its use of the Bypass 

Reach for reasonable domestic and commercial purposes as guaranteed by its status as a riparian 

owner. Id. Greenlawn used the water as a domestic and industrial water supply to over 100,000 

consumers within its city limits. Id at 5. Greenlawn’s withdrawal needs average 6 million gallons 

per day (MGD) and 20 MGD at its peak usage times of spring and summer. Id. A flow of 30 CFS 

is required to support Greenlawn’s needs of 20 MGD during peak season. Id. at 11.  

The ACOE responded to the request by asking Greenlawn to implement restrictions upon 

its citizen’s use of the water. Id. at 8. Greenlawn, in turn, responded by asserting that it had the 

right to continue those reasonable uses as a riparian landowner. Id. The ACOE, agreeing with 

Greenlawn, increased the water releases to the Bypass Reach to sufficient flows for Greenlawn to 

make reasonable use of the water. Id. at 9. As a result of the necessary releases, the level of Lake 
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Howard Runnet began to decrease and the ACOE responded by curtailing hydroelectric power 

uses of the water to maintain desirable lake levels. Id.  

Greenlawn’s demand for increased flows of water had clear adverse effects on the entire 

Green River. Id. Greenlawn’s water withdrawals from the Bypass Reach consumed nearly all of 

the water flowing through the Green River. The average flow of the river was reduced from 25 

CFS to close to zero, leaving only stagnant pools and narrow trickles of water downstream from 

the Howard Runnet Dam. Id. The resulting reduction in downstream flow increased siltation and 

an extreme lowering of the water levels in the river. Id. In addition, the decreased flow of water 

causing the increase in siltation caused an increase in the salinity of the water in the Green Bay, 

an estuary to the Green River. Id. at 10. The resulting increased salinity allowed for conch and 

crab species, which had not previously been able to exist in the Green Bay, to move into the river 

and begin feasting upon the native oysters. Id.  

New Union Oystercathcers, Inc. (“NUO”) is a is a not-for-profit membership association 

representing the interests of oyster fishermen of Green Bay. Id.  None of the members of NUO 

own any waterfront property on the Green River or the Green Bay. Id.  For many years Green Bay 

supported a thriving oyster industry, but a reduction in nutrient inflows into Green Bay resulted in 

the oyster harvest dropping to 50% of what it was just sixteen years earlier. Id. NUO’s members 

are retail customers of the New Union Regional Electric Cooperative, and will be forced to pay 

electric rate fuel surcharges during times that the Howard Runnet hydroelectric plant cannot 

operate as a peaking facility. Id. NUO served a Notice of Intent to sue Greenlawn alleging 

violations based on the flow reductions in the Green River that resulted from ACOE’s curtailment 

of hydroelectric peaking. Id. After waiting sixty days after filing their Notice of Intent, NUO filed 

this action and included two additional claims against Greenlawn: a common law riparian claim 
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and a taking claim, under the ESA connected to damage to the oval pigtoe mussel without an 

incidental take permit. Id. at 11.  

The oval pigtoe mussel is an endangered species listed under the ESA Id. at 9. The reduced 

flow rates in the Green River resulting from Greenlawn’s withdrawals have caused severe damage 

to the oval pigtoe mussels who live in the Green River. Id at 9.  For their survival the oval pigtoe 

mussel requires gravel or silty sand riverbeds, with slow to moderate currents as well as the 

existence of a healthy sailfin shiner population. Id. The oval pigtoe mussel shares a symbiotic 

relationship with the sailfin shiner necessary for it’s maturation. Id. The reduced flows have caused 

stagnant waters and increasing siltation thus smothering the oval pigtoe mussel population and 

eliminating its necessary habitat. Id. Further, the reduced flow has lowered water levels which 

prevents the migration of the sailfin shiner. Id. Most damaging however has been that several beds 

of oval pigtoe mussels were exposed no longer submerging the oval pigtoe mussels in those beds. 

Id. It is undisputed that approximately a quarter of the Green River oval pigtoe mussel population 

died as a result. Id. at 10.  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT  

The District Court properly found that Greenlawn had the right as a riparian landowner to 

continue water withdrawals for municipal purposes without any water conservation measures 

because the use of the water from the Bypass Reach by Greenlawn is reasonable.  Further, the 

District Court properly held that the operation of the Howard Runnet Dam Works is not a 

discretionary action because agencies do not have discretion when it comes to following the law 

and following its contractual obligations. In addition, The District Court properly found that 

Greenlawn violated Section 9 of the Endangered Species Act when it withdrew nearly all of the 

flow from the Howard Runnet Dam Works despite emergency drought conditions. However, the 
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District Court erred when it failed to apply the traditional four-factor balancing test required when 

considering a grant of permanent injunction. 

First, Green lawn did not have to limit its reasonable use as the only limitation on riparian 

use is that it be reasonable. Reasonable uses are those which are not to the detriment of other 

reasonable uses. A riparian owner has the absolute right to use as much water as it needs for 

domestic purposes such as drinking, bathing and caring for the home, as these uses serve the natural 

wants. An artificial use, such as power generation and recreation, will always be found 

unreasonable when compared to a domestic use. Even in times of drought, if a use is reasonable, 

it cannot be limited.  

Here, Greenlawn is entitled to a flow sufficient to support its 20 MPG needs because the 

purpose for which Greenlawn uses the water is domestic by nature. Greenlawn uses the water to 

serve the natural wants of its 100,000 residents by giving them access to clean and safe water for 

drinking, bathing, and other household needs. By comparison, the usage of the Bypass Reach by 

ACOE is artificial because it serves commercial needs such as recreation and power generation. 

Additionally, even if the use of the water by Greenlawn was artificial, Greenlawn would still be 

entitled to the water, as ACOE’s artificial uses are unreasonable because they prevent Greenlawn 

from acquiring enough water for its own uses. Finally, the only limitation placed upon 

Greenlawn’s use of the water, even in times of drought, is that it be reasonable. The uses by 

Greenlawn do not unfairly detriment any other riparian owner. Thus, because Greenlawn is a 

riparian owner who makes reasonable use of the Bypass Reach waters it has a right to the flow of 

the Bypass Reach sufficient to serve its needs, the District Court should be affirmed.  

 Second, operation of the Howard Runnet Dam Works is not a discretionary action as an 

Agency does not have the discretion to break the law or violate a contract. The Administrative 
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Procedure Act (“APA”) demands that agencies follow the law. The Endangered Species Act 

(“ESA”) does not create any right for an agency to breach a contract nor alter a contract that had 

been entered into prior to the ESA’s enactment. These requirements mean that an agency has no 

discretion when faced with the decision of whether or not to follow the law or violate a contract. 

Discretion implies the choice between two outcomes, but when it comes to violating the law or 

breaching a contract an agency does not have a choice: it must follow the law and honor its 

contracts.  Here, operation of the Howard Runnet Dam Works is not a discretionary action because 

both the law and the ACOE’s contractual duties to Greenlawn require the ACOE to provide 

sufficient water to Greenlawn for its reasonable use. Under either theory, the ACOE has only one 

choice and thus has no discretion. The District Court should be affirmed in finding there is no 

agency discretion in operating the Howard Runnet Dam Works.  

 Third, Greenlawn committed a taking because under the ESA any action that 

harms a species listed as endangered constitutes a taking. A harm is not limited to physical 

injury, and extends to conduct that degrades or modifies the critical habitat an endangered 

species relies on. Further, a harm does not need to be caused by direct action, but can be a result 

of action taking place elsewhere, so long as that action was the proximate cause of the harm, and 

the resulting harm was foreseeable. 

 Here, Greenlawn’s actions harmed the oval pigtoe mussel population because by the time 

Greenlawn had taken all the water it needed, the water level in the Green River was so low that 

the mussels had no way to remain submerged. The reduced flow modified the habitat of the 

mussels such that they were in danger of exposure and of being smothered with silt. Although 

the action which lead to the reduction in flow took place some ways upstream, the degradation of 
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the mussel’s habitat downstream of the Howard Runnet Dam Works was a foreseeable result of 

Greenlawn’s actions. 

However, when determining whether to enjoin Greenlawn’s use of the flow during 

drought conditions, the District Court failed to apply the appropriate four-factor balancing test, 

and granted an automatic permanent injunction erroneously. A permanent injunction is an 

extreme form of relief that should be granted only after balancing the goals of the ESA with the 

good that the tangentially harmful activity might be accomplishing. An automatic permanent 

injunction is required only where the alternative is the total loss of an endangered species. 

Here, although there was a valid take of an endangered species under the ESA, since it 

did not involve the eradication of the entire population of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel 

population but rather the possible extirpation of only those mussels specifically located in the 

Green River, the District Court was require to balance the equities to determine if permanent 

injunctive relief of a beneficial municipal activity was appropriate and it failed to do so. 

Although Greenlawn’s water usage caused harm to the mussel population and will likely 

continue to do so absent an injunction, the court is nevertheless required to balance that harm 

against Greenlawn’s reasonable goal of providing water for its citizens. 

 This Court should affirm the District Court’s finding that Greenlawn has the right as a 

riparian landowner to continue water withdrawals for municipal purposes during a drought without 

any water conservation measures because the use was reasonable. This Court should also affirm 

the District Court’s holding the operation of the Howard Runnet Dam Works is not a discretionary 

action. Further, this Court should affirm the District Court’s finding that the actions of Greenlawn 

constituted a taking. However, this Court should reverse the District Court’s injunction and remand 

with instructions to balance the equities.  
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND GREENLAWN HAS THE RIGHT, AS 
A RIPARIAN LANDOWNER, TO CONTINUE WATER WITHDRAWALS FOR 
MUNICIPAL PURPOSES DURING A DROUGHT WITHOUT ANY WATER 
CONSERVATION MEASURES.  
A riparian proprietor may make reasonable use of the water that flows through their lands. 

The reasonableness of a use is measured in comparison to other riparian owner’s uses. A 

reasonable use does not detriment the reasonable use by another riparian proprietor. Bollinger v. 

Henry, 375 S.W.2d 161, 166 (Mo. 1964). A municipality possesses the same rights as any riparian 

proprietor and receives the same protection from others interfering with that right. Canton v. Shock, 

63 N.E. 600, 603 (1902).  

A.  As a domestic riparian proprietor Greenlawn has the unlimited right to use the 
Bypass Reach for municipal purposes which ACOE must comply with as an artificial 
proprietor. 

Domestic uses, meaning those uses that serve natural wants, such as drinking, bathing, and 

keeping a garden, hold a priority over artificial uses such as powering a mill or irrigation. 

Bollinger, 375 S.W.2d 166 (Mo. 1964). The remaining water may be used for artificial purposes, 

but a domestic use will always be superior to that of an artificial use. Evans v. Merriweather, 4 Ill. 

491, 495 (1842). Municipal water uses such as supplying water for drinking, bathing and 

household tasks are domestic uses while using water for power generation and recreation are 

artificial uses. Canton v. Shock, 63 N.E. 600 (1902).  In New Union, it is reasonable for a riparian 

municipality to withdraw water for use by non-riparian lots within the municipality. Tubbs v. Potts, 

45 N.U. 999 (1909). 

First, the right to the domestic use of water is superior to the right to artificial use by another 

riparian proprietor. Bollinger, 375 S.W.2d 166 (Mo. 1964). In Bollinger, Henry and Bollinger were 

both riparian owners. Henry used the water from the river to irrigate his crops and Bollinger used 
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it to watter his hogs and to operate a mill. Id. The court held that Henry, the irrigator, only had the 

right to use so much water as was left after the domestic use by Bollinger in watering his hogs. Id. 

The court explained that the rights of Bollinger to use the water to care for his hogs receives priority 

over other uses because it serves the "natural wants" of a human. Id. Second, a riparian 

municipality’s use of water to supply for its inhabitants “natural wants” is a domestic use without 

liability to other riparian owners hoping to use that water as a source for artificial needs. Canton, 

63 N.E. at 602. In Canton, a municipality and a mill operator were riparian owners. Id. at 601. The 

municipality used the water as both a water supply for its inhabitants and as a source of power. 

The mill owner only used the water as a source of power. Id. The Court held that the municipality 

had the absolute and superior right to use all the water it needed for the domestic use of supplying 

water to its inhabitants even if doing so meant the mill owner had no water to use for power. Id. at 

603. The Court further explained that because the use of water for artificial purposes is subject to 

the superior right of another’s use of the same water for domestic purposes, no complaint may be 

had by a power supplier who does not have enough water as a result of a municipality’s domestic 

usage. Id. 

Here, the District Court properly found that Greenlawn has a right to the reasonable use of 

the Bypass Reach as a riparian owner. It is undisputed that Greenlawn occupies the riparian lands 

of the Bypass Reach and as a result is entitled to make reasonable use of the river. Greenlawn’s 

usage is similar to using the water for hogs in Bollinger and as a water supply in Canton because 

Greenlawn uses the water to supply for the natural wants of its residents such as drinking, bathing, 

and household tasks. Further, watering one’s lawn is the modern-day equivalent to the domestic 

use of watering one’s personal livestock, which is a domestic use as evidenced by Bollinger, as it 

is a minimal use of water for a household benefit. Watering a lawn is substantially different from 
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irrigation, an artificial use as evidenced by Bollinger, as irrigation requires massive amounts of 

water to serve the commercial purpose of raising crops. By contrast, like the mills in Bollinger, 

the uses of the Howard Runnet Dam Works by the ACOE for recreational purposes and 

hydroelectric power are artificial by nature and as a result, must yield until Greenlawn’s domestic 

uses of the water, such as drinking, bathing and watering the grass, are sufficiently met. The 

underlying logic in this is that the use of water for natural wants is the most valuable use of water 

to society. The District Court should be affirmed because the ACOE has no right to deny 

Greenlawn sufficient water for their domestic use as riparian owners. 

B. Alternatively, even if the use of Bypass Reach by Greenlawn is not found to be a 
domestic use Greenlawn still has the ability to demand the water from ACOE as an equal 
artificial user.  

In the alternative, even if the Greenlawn’s municipal use was not considered to be 

domestic, the District Court should be affirmed because any artificial use of the water by 

Greenlawn is entitled to the same right of usage as the artificial uses by ACOE.  Evans 4 Ill. at 

496. In Evans, a drought had diminished the flow of a stream used to power two riparian’s mills. 

Evans used a dam to divert the water to ensure his own use would continue. Id. at 493. The court 

held that Evan’s dam was unreasonable because it was an artificial use which had damaged the use 

of another riparian’s equally artificial use. Id. at 496. The court explains that when there are two 

artificial riparian users both may only use enough water so as to allow the other to continue their 

own artificial usage. Id. See also Restatement (Second) of Torts § 850A (Am. Law Inst. 1979) 

Here, even in the unlikely case that municipal usage by Greenlawn is not a domestic use, 

Greenlawn still has the equal right to make artificial use of the water as much as ACOE has a right 

to make its own artificial uses and perhaps, even more of a right. Just as the dam in Evans prevented 

the artificial use by the mill owner here, the Howard Runnet Dam Works prevents the usage of the 
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water by Greenlawn. Greenlawn unquestionably requires 20 MGD to continue its operation of 

supplying water to its inhabitants during the summer. ACOE however, only needs enough water 

to assure recreation and power generation can go on during these months. As Evans demonstrates, 

riparianism, at a minimum, demands enough water be provided so that both uses may persist, but 

further, as alluded to in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 850A, such recreational uses occupy the 

lowest rung in the hierarchy of use and are afforded less priority. In addition, the underlying theory 

of riparian reasonable use indicates that there should be a consideration of the consequences of 

requiring a municipality’s water supply to be greatly diminished to the detriment of one-hundred 

thousand persons who rely upon the Bypass Reach to serve their most basic health needs in order 

to assure recreational and industrial uses may continue. The theory of reasonable use at its very 

core is set up to prevent such a result. Reasonableness must prevail.  For these reasons, even if the 

municipal uses of the Green River by Greenlawn are an artificial use the District Court should be 

affirmed in holding that Greenlawn has a right to continue water withdrawals at 20 MPG.  

C.  Riparian laws do not require the City of Greenlawn to implement any conservation 
measures nor is a riparian owner required to meet the demands of a non-riparian owner. 

Absent statutory limitations or harm to other riparian owners, a riparian owner’s right to 

the reasonable use of water is absolute. Mentone Irrigation Co. v. Redlands Elec. Light & Power 

Co., 100 P. 1082 (Cal. 1909) See also Restatement (Second) of Torts § Scope (Am. Law Inst. 

1979) (“A use of water by a riparian proprietor, whether for riparian or non-riparian purposes, is 

privileged if it does not cause harm to the existing reasonable use of another riparian proprietor”). 

A drought does not affect the absolute right of a riparian owner to make full use of the water so 

long as the use is reasonable. Evans 4 Ill. at 494. In the absence of a public or private license, a 

riparian proprietor owes no duty to alter their use of water to a non-riparian owner. Koch v. 

Aupperle, 737 N.W.2d 869, 881 (Neb. 2007). See also Restatement (Second) of Torts § 856 (Am. 
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Law Inst. 1979) (“Except where the non-riparian has a special right, a riparian proprietor on a 

watercourse or lake is not liable to a non-riparian for making a use of the water therein although 

such use interferes with the non-riparian's use of the water”). 

First, the right of a riparian owner to use the water is limited only by the requirement to do 

no harm to the reasonable uses by another riparian owner. Harris v. Brooks, 283 S.W.2d 129 (Ark. 

1955). In Harris, a riparian owner used the waters for commercial boating while another, who used 

it for rice farming, was pumping those same waters out of the lake for their own personal use and 

to the detriment of the commercial boating operation. Id. at 131. The court held that the pumping 

must stop, to the extent that it prevents the usage by the commercial boater, as a riparian owner 

does not have the right to unreasonably detriment another riparian owner. Id. at 135. The court 

explained that “It is only when one riparian proprietor's use of the water is unreasonable that 

another who is harmed by it can complain” Id.  Further, a drought does not require the reasonable 

riparian proprietor to alter their usage of water. Evans 4 Ill. at 491. In Evans, a drought had 

diminished the flow of a stream used to power two riparian’s mills and Evans unreasonably 

diverted the water through the use of a dam preventing the other mill owners' artificial use. Id. at 

493. Though the court held that Evan’s use was unreasonable because his artificial use had 

damaged the use of another riparian’s equally artificial use, the court made it clear that if the 

diversion had been for a domestic purpose it would have been reasonable, even if it resulted in the 

complete depletion and drying up of the river during the drought. Id. at 495. Finally, a riparian 

owner owes no duty of reasonable use to a non-riparian owner.  Koch 737 at 881. In Koch, a 

landowner, Koch, sought to enjoin a riparian owner, Aupperle, from constructing a dam. Id. at 

872. The court denied the injunction without even analyzing the reasonableness of Aupperle’s 

usage because Koch had not demonstrated ownership of riparian land and thus “clearly is not 
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entitled to injunctive relief.”  Id. at 881. See also Martinez v. Cook, 244 P.2d 134, 137 (N.M. 1952) 

(Owners of land separated from water had no standing to sue for overflow: “Riparian rights subsist 

only for riparian proprietors, and those who do not own or control riparian land cannot claim 

them”). 

Here, the District Court properly rejected the share the shortage argument made by NUO 

and held that Greenlawn does not have to curtail its domestic use of the Bypass Reach. NUO has 

failed to meet both requirements to impose a reduction of the water intake by Greenlawn: a riparian 

owner and damage to that riparian owner. First, the record is clear: not a single member of NUO 

owns any riparian lands to the Bypass Reach. As evidenced by Koch (and the basic concept of 

riparian reasonableness) without riparian land ownership NUO has no right to alter Greenlawn’s 

usage. Second, NUO has failed to show that there is any riparian owner that was damaged by 

Greenlawn’s consumption. As expressed in Harris, and a foundational premise of riparian rights, 

only unreasonable uses may be limited by other riparian owners. As previously shown, the use of 

the Bypass Reach by Greenlawn was a reasonable use. The fact that ACOE, as the only other 

riparian owner in this suit, contends Greenlawn has not acted unreasonably in causing any damage 

to our riparian rights quickly shows that there is no requirement for Greenlawn to limit its 

consumption.  

Finally, Greenlawn did not have to “share the shortage” as doing so violates the 

foundational premises of riparianism.  The pro-rata premise underlying NUO’s “share the 

shortage” argument fails when exposed to the realities of this case. The use of the water by 

Greenlawn, which NUO attempts to reduce, occupies the highest rung in the hierarchy of 

reasonable uses: serving the natural wants of a massive group of persons. As Harris explained, 

and this case shows, the power of the riparian reasonable user is absolute, even if exercising it 
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causes every turbine at the Howard Runnet Dam to grind to a halt.  It is true that some states have 

adopted a pro-rata share the shortage approach but, that is done through the legislature and 

statutory decrees. New Union has not adopted any such legislation and it is not the role of the 

courts to do so. The role of the court is to apply the common law riparian principle of reasonable 

use which requires: an aggrieved riparian owner and an unreasonable use causing the grievance. 

As neither an aggrieved riparian owner nor an unreasonable use exists in this case, the District 

Court properly found that no restriction may be placed on Greenlawn’s riparian right to reasonable 

use of the Bypass Reach. 

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT OPERATION OF 
HOWARD RUNNET DAM WORKS DURING DROUGHT CONDITIONS TO 
PROVIDE FLOW TO GREENLAWN IS NOT A DISCRETIONARY ACTION 
SUBJECT TO THE CONSULTATION REQUIREMENT WITHIN § 7 OF THE 
ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT, 16 U.S.C. § 1536 

The Endangered Species Act’s Section 7 consultation requirement is only triggered when 

an agency retains some discretion in taking an agency action. 50 C.F.R. § 402.03. Federal agencies 

do not have discretion in whether or not to follow the law or to follow the terms of a contract. 

Karuk Tribe of California v. U.S. Forest Serv., 681 F.3d 1006 (9th Cir. 2012) 

A.  Whether or not to violate the law is not a discretionary action and the ACOE was 
required by law to provide sufficient water to Greenlawn for riparian use.  

 
Under the Administrative Procedure Act, no administrative agency may take any action 

not in accordance with law. 5 USC § 706 (2)(B). Where the law is mandatory in what an agency 

must do there is no discretion for the purposes of Section 7 of the ESA. Nat'l Ass'n of Home 

Builders v. Defs. of Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644 (2007). In National Association of Home Builders, the 

EPA was required by law to approve a transfer application unless it determined that the State 

lacked adequate authority to perform the nine functions specified. Id. Arizona officials sought EPA 

authorization for a transfer application and the EPA determined that Arizona had adequate 
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authority to perform all nine of the functions required yet still initiated consultation under ESA 

Section 7. Id. at 653-54. The Supreme Court, rejecting the plaintiff’s challenge of the permits 

approval as a violation of the ESA, held that because the language of the law required the license 

to be issued, the Agency had no discretion and thus the consultation requirement of the ESA could 

not be triggered. Id. at 669. The Court explained that agency discretion presumes that an agency 

can exercise "judgment" in connection with a particular action and when the requirements of law 

are clear there is no judgment to be made by an agency. Id. at 668.   

Here, the District Court properly held that the operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works is 

not a discretionary action. As established earlier, Greenlawn had the right to the usage of the water 

in the Bypass Reach under riparian reasonable use law. As the Administrative Procedure Act, 

National Home Builders and common sense require: an agency does not have the discretion to 

violate the law. The APA, by statute, explicitly demands that agencies act in accordance with the 

law, National Home Builders demonstrates specifically for the purposes of the ESA that 

compliance with the law is not a discretionary action and in this case riparian law requires the 

ACOE to supply sufficient water for Greenlawn’s reasonable use. Discretion implies more than 

one option. Here, the law is clear: the ACOE must allow Greenlawn to make reasonable use of the 

Bypass Reach. There is no judgment, no choice for the ACOE to make and thus no discretion 

exists.  The District Court properly found that following the law was not a discretionary agency 

action and should be affirmed.  

  B.  Whether or not to follow the terms of a contract is not a discretionary action and 
the ACOE was contractually obligated to Greenlawn to supply water sufficient for its 
riparian reasonable use. 

 
 A federal agency, through the ESA or otherwise, does not have discretion to violate the 

terms of a contract.  Sierra Club v. Babbitt, 65 F.3d 1502 (9th Cir. 1995). Nor does an agency have 
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discretion to alter a vested right received through a previously made agreement. Cal. Sportfishing 

Prot. All. v. FERC, 472 F.3d 593 (9th Cir. 2006).  

 The ESA does not give an agency discretion to alter a contract entered into prior to the 

ESA’s enactment in which the agency did not already not have the discretion to alter the contract. 

Babbitt, 65 F.3d at 1509. In Babbit, a right of way contract had been entered into by the BLM with 

a logging company years before the ESA was enacted. Id. at 1505-06. The court held that the 

consultation requirement did not apply to the right of way contract because the BLM had entered 

into it before the passage of the ESA and the agency had no ability to alter the private rights of the 

contract. Id. at 1510.  The court further held that the ESA contained no statutory provision allowing 

an agency to breach a contract it was bound by. Id. The court stated unambiguously “Congress did 

not intend for Section 7 [consultation requirement] to apply to an agreement finalized before 

passage of the ESA where the federal agency currently lacks the discretion to influence the private 

activity for the benefit of the protected species.”  Id. at 1511-12. By contrast, an agency retains 

discretion only when a project or action remains to be carried out. Tennessee Valley Authority v. 

Hill, 437 U.S. 153 (1978). In Hill a dam had not yet been completed when it was found to be a 

threat to an endangered species. The Supreme Court, defining discretion, stated that Section 7 of 

the ESA affects only agency actions “which remain to be authorized, funded, or carried out” by an 

agency. Id. at 2298 n. 32 (Emphasis added). On this principle, the Court held that an injunction 

should be issued because the agency retained discretion through the continuing appropriations for 

the construction of the dam. Id. Finally, an already vested right may not be altered by the ESA. 

Cal. Sportfishing Prot. All 472 F.3d at 598. In California Sportfishing a license was issued by an 

agency to a private company for the operation of a hydroelectric dam. Id. at 594. The court held 

that because the private right to operate the dam had already been vested there existed no 
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discretion. Id. at 598. Emphasizing the forward-looking nature of the ESA the court explained that 

the discretion required for Section 7 to be triggered involved new agency actions not already 

required actions. Id. See also Platte River Whooping Crane Critical Habitat Maint. Tr. v. FERC, 

962 F.2d 27, 34 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (The ESA “directs agencies to "utilize their authorities" to carry 

out the ESA's objectives; it does not expand the powers conferred on an agency by its enabling 

act”).  

 Here, the District Court should be affirmed in its holding that the operation of the Howard 

Runnet Dam Works is not a discretionary action because the ACOE does not have discretion to 

breach its contract with Greenlawn. Underlying this entire dispute is the fact that ACOE and 

Greenlawn entered into a contract to maintain flows in the Bypass Reach sufficient to allow the 

City of Greenlawn to continue water withdrawals “In such quantities and at such rates and times 

as it is entitled to as a riparian property owner under the laws of the State of New Union.” Similar 

to the right of way contract in Babbit this contract was agreed to in 1947, far before the ESA was 

passed in 1973 and the ACOE had no ability to alter its terms. As demonstrated in Babbit and 

California Sportfishing, the ACOE is not afforded the discretion to breach a contractual duty to 

Greenlawn by the ESA as Greenlawn’s rights had already been vested. The language of the 

contract is plain and unambiguous in what it requires: ACOE must supply water for Greenlawn’s 

reasonable use. The contract here had no shortage provision which would allow the alteration of 

Greenlawn’s rights to the water in times of drought. Nor does the WCM give the ACOE such 

discretion as it explicitly states that “At all times the Howard Runnet Dam Works shall be operated 

in a manner that complies with any water supply agreements entered into by the United States 

Army Corps of Engineers, and with the riparian rights of property owners established under New 

Union.” Nor does the record reflect ongoing appropriations as was the basis for finding agency 
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discretion in Hill. As a result, the District Court properly held that the operation of Howard Runnet 

Dam Works was not a discretionary action and should be affirmed.  

III.      THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT GREENLAWN’S ACTIONS 
CONSTITUTE A TAKE OF THE OVAL PIGTOE MUSSEL POPULATION BECAUSE 
THOSE ACTIONS CAUSED ACTUAL HARM, LEADING TO DEATH AND INJURY 
OF MEMBERS OF THE SPECIES. 

  

Under Section 9 of the ESA, any behavior that amounts to a “take” of a listed species is 

prohibited. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B). A take includes any action that will harm the listed 

species. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(19). An act that causes “harm” is one that actually kills or injures 

members of the protected species. Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Cmtys. for a Greater Or., 

515 U.S. 687, 697 (1995). This includes not only direct physical harm, but destruction or 

modification of essential habitat that the species relies on for food, breeding, or other necessities. 

Palila v. Haw. Dep’t. of Land and Nat. Res., 852 F.2d 1106, 1108 (9th Cir. 1998). 

A. By degrading the critical habitat of the oval pigtoe mussel, Greenlawn caused 
harm to a listed species. 

 
 To harm an endangered species is to commit an unlawful “take” in violation of the ESA. 

“Harm” under Section 9 of the ESA includes not only direct physical harm to an endangered 

species, but the destruction or modification of essential habitat that the species relies on for food, 

breeding, or other necessities. Sweet Home., 515 U.S. at 698. An actor need not intend to cause 

harm to the species, and is in violation so long as the action is committed knowingly. Id. at 702-

03. 

An action which modifies the habitat of an endangered species such that the “essential 

behavior patterns” of the species are impaired constitutes an unlawful “take” of that species 

under the ESA. Palila, 852 F.2d at 1108.  In Palila, plaintiffs sued the Hawaii Department of 

Land and Natural Resources on behalf of the palila, an endangered species of bird whose critical 
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habitat, located on land which the Department was tasked with maintaining, was overrun by 

sheep. Id. at 1107. Plaintiffs contended that the grazing habits of these sheep made it impossible 

for mamane trees that the palila relied on as part of its critical habitat to regenerate. Id. at 1109. 

The Department favored a narrow interpretation of “harm” under the statute, arguing that acts 

which degrade the habitat of an endangered species are only potential harms and not actual 

harms. Id. at 1108. The court instead relied on the definition of harm provided by the Secretary 

of the Interior, who defined harm to include “injury caused by impairment of essential behavior 

patterns via habitat modification[.]” Id. The Court found that this interpretation aligns with the 

plain language of the statute, which states that its purpose is in part “to provide a means whereby 

the ecosystems upon which endangered species and threatened species depend may be 

conserved[.]” Id. (quoting 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b)). 

 Here, the District Court properly found that Greenlawn’s actions caused harm to the oval 

pigtoe mussel population in the Green River, because Greenlawn’s withdrawal of nearly all of 

the draught-reduced flow degraded the mussel’s habitat such that their essential behavior patterns 

were impaired. Like in Palila, the species at issue in this case depends totally on particular 

unique features of its habitat for survival—there a certain tree, and here a certain water level and 

flow. The level and flow of water in the Green River is crucial, because without it the mussels 

will be smothered by stagnant, silty water, and be unable to remain submerged. When the water 

level dips too low it is also impossible for the sailfin shiner to reach the mussels. The sailfin 

shiner is a species of fish with which the mussels have a symbiotic relationship: without 

attaching itself to the gills of a sailfin shiner, an oval pigtoe mussel cannot mature. In Palila, the 

presence of the sheep constituted a take although the palila population had not declined, because 

there was a threat that it would decline in the future. Palila, 852 F. 2d at 1109. In this case, a 
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quarter of the oval pigtoe mussel population has died as a result of Greenlawn’s actions, making 

this an even more clear-cut example of a taking. 

B. Greenlawn’s indirect actions constitute a take, because although they did not directly 
injure the mussels, the destructive results of Greenlawn’s actions were foreseeable. 

 
To constitute a take under the ESA, it is not necessary that one’s actions be direct. 

Loggerhead Turtle v. Council of Volusia Cty., Fla., 148 F.3d 1231, 1237 (11th Cir. 1998). 

Indirect activity falls within the purview of the statute if it results in the death or injury of 

members of a listed species, as long as the causal connection between the action and the injury is 

not too remote. Id. at 1247. To determine whether the connection is too attenuated, courts look to 

the common law notion of proximate cause and foreseeability. Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of 

Communities for a Great Oregon, 515 U.S. 687, 700 (1995). 

Causation is established under the ESA when there is a “traceable connection between 

the plaintiff’s injury and the defendant’s conduct.” Aransas Project v. Shaw, 775 F.3d 641, 648 

(5th Cir. 2014) (internal quotation removed). In that case, twenty-three members of a flock of 

endangered whooping cranes died during a severe drought. Plaintiffs, an environmental group, 

alleged that the state agency tasked with managing surface water capture throughout the estuary 

harmed the crane population when it administered licenses for people to take water from 

surrounding rivers. Id. at 725. The district court found for the plaintiffs, but the Fifth Circuit 

reversed, holding that the proximate cause test had been misapplied. Id. at 664. In holding the 

agency liable for the deaths of the whooping cranes, the district court erroneously treated 

“remote, attenuated, and fortuitous events following [the] issuance of water permits” as sufficient 

proximate cause. Id. at 656. 

Following precedent from Sweet Home, the Fifth Circuit acknowledged that a finding of 

proximate cause “depends to a great extent on considerations of the fairness of imposing liability 
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for remote consequences.” Id. at 657 (quoting Sweet Home, 515 U.S. at 713). Unlike in Sweet 

Home, the link between the issuance of water permits and the death of some cranes involved 

many steps, and “[e]very link of [the] chain depends on modeling and estimation. At best, the 

court found but-for causation.” Aransas, 775 F.3d at 660. The key aspect of proximate cause the 

district court failed to apply was foreseeability. The Fifth Circuit found that foreseeability was 

impossible, because many of the links in the causal chain alleged by plaintiffs involved 

“contingencies … outside the state’s control and often outside of human control.” Id. at 661-62. 

Here, the District Court properly found that Greenlawn’s actions were the foreseeable 

cause of loss to the mussel population in Green River. Unlike in Aransas, linking Greenlawn’s 

decision to withdraw nearly all of the flow from the Green River despite its reduction from 

drought conditions does not require a complex chain of inferences to connect it to the 

modification of the oval pigtoe mussel’s habitat: removing flow made the river so shallow that 

the mussels were exposed. This result is certainly foreseeable. In choosing not to impose drought 

restrictions in its citizens, Greenlawn lowered the lake level to Zone 3 (Drought Emergency) for 

the first time ever. It is clearly foreseeable that a drastically lowered water level in the lake 

would drastically lower the water level in the river flowing out of it, and clearly foreseeable that 

this exposure could be damaging to species that make the river their home. The reduced flow not 

only lowered the depth of the river, but eliminated any possibility that the oval pigtoe mussel 

might remain submerged. Although the ACOE control the operation of the Howard Runnet Dam 

Works, they must yield to Greenlawn’s demands so Greenlawn is solely responsible for the 

reduction in flow. 

C. The lower court’s finding that Greenlawn’s actions constitute a take of the oval pigtoe 
mussel population is consistent with the purpose of the ESA. 
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The stated purpose of the ESA is to “provide a means whereby the ecosystems upon which 

endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved[.]” 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b). It 

is apparent from this language that Congress intended not only to conserve endangered species, 

but their habitats as well. Palila, 852 F.2d at 1108. Takings are meant to be construed broadly, 

because the primary goal of the act is for endangered species to recover “to the point at which the 

measures provided pursuant to this chapter are no longer necessary.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(2). 

            Here, finding anything other than a taking would render the ESA meaningless. The 

modification of the oval pigtoe mussel’s habitat is unambiguously a harm under the statute. 

Modifying the habitat of an endangered species so that it may no longer mature, and so that it is 

in grave danger of being smothered is exactly the kind of activity Congress sought to address 

with the ESA. Without a thought to the habitats they depend on, any attempt to help an 

endangered species to return from the brink of extinction must address habitat modification. The 

District Court correctly held that modification of the oval pigtoe’s habitat was a taking. 
 

 
IV.     THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO BALANCE THE EQUITIES BEFORE 
ENJOINING GREENLAWN’S BENEFICIAL MUNICIPAL ACTIVITY, DESPITE THE 
TRADITIONAL REQUIREMENT TO DO SO.  

 
 An immediate injunction for under the ESA, without balancing the usual equitable factors 

required for injunctive relief, is available only as a drastic measure, when a lack of injunction 

would result in the eradication of an endangered species. United States v. Oakland Cannabis 

Buyers’ Co-op, 532 U.S. 483, 497 (2001). Absent such a dire “Hobson’s choice,” district courts 

acting as courts of equity have discretion, and may consider “the advantages and disadvantages 

of employing the extraordinary remedy of injunction.” Id. at 498 (quoting Weinberg v. Romero–

Barcelo, 456 U.S. 305, 312 (1982)). To do so, courts employ a four-factor test to determine: 

(1) the likelihood of success on the merits; (2) the potential for irreparable harm if the 
injunction is denied; (3) the balance of relevant impositions, i.e., the hardship to the 
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nonmovant if enjoined as contrasted with the hardship to the movant if no injunction 
issues; and (4) the effect (if any) of the court’s ruling on the public interest. 

 
Strahan v. Coxe, 127 F.3d 155, 160 (1st Cir. 1997). 

 The notion that an equitable balancing test is never required in any instance of a taking 

under the ESA is “based on a mistaken reading of a line of cases beginning with Hill.” Animal 

Welfare Institute v. Martin, 623 F.3d 19, 26 (1st Cir. 2010) (referencing Hill, 437 U.S. 153 (1978). 

In Martin, plaintiffs, two private environmental groups, sued Maine state officials alleging that by 

allowing trapping activity throughout the habitat of the endangered Canada lynx, Maine was 

harming the lynx population in violation of the ESA. Id. at 22. Acting under the assumption that 

Maine’s actions constituted a take, the First Circuit declined to grant a permanent injunction, even 

in light of Hill, after applying the traditional test for permanent injunction. Id. at 29. At first glance 

the Hill decision, in which the Tennessee Valley Authority was permanently enjoined from 

finishing a nearly-complete multimillion-dollar dam because its operation would eradicate a newly 

discovered species of fish called the snail darter, seems to be a sweeping grant of authority for 

courts to grant permanent injunctions the moment a “take” is proven under the ESA. Hill, 437 U.S. 

at 195. But the Martin court urges further scrutiny of the Hill decision, setting aside its drastic 

result and instead acknowledging the uniqueness of its facts. Martin, 623 F.3d at 27. The Supreme 

Court issued the injunction in Hill without balancing traditional equitable factors because the 

potential loss of an entire species meant they did not feel free to do so. Hill, 437 U.S. at 194. 

Despite this precedent, courts are “not mechanically obligated to grant an injunction for every 

violation of law.” Id. at 193. Relying on this, the Martin court determined that injunctive relief 

was not necessary. Martin, 623 F.3d at 30. 

 Here, the District Court erred when it failed to apply the four-factor balancing test to 

determine if a permanent injunction is warranted. Like in Martin, it is undisputed that the action 
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which plaintiffs seek to enjoin does not entail a complete eradication of the endangered species at 

issue. The oval pigtoe mussels in the Green River are not the only oval pigtoe mussels in the world. 

Although they are undoubtedly entitled to some level of protection under the ESA, a permanent 

injunction is not the only remedy available. Section 11 lists a number of other remedies, such as 

fines. 16 U.S.C. § 1540(a)(1). Although Greenlawn is in violation of the ESA, ACOE cannot order 

them to reduce their withdrawals. Greenlawn’s rights as a riparian owner mean that it is entitled to 

reasonable use of the water from the Howard Runnet Dam Works, and providing water for its 

citizens is required by both law and contract. Since the entire oval pigtoe mussel population will 

not be eradicated by Greenlawn’s actions, it is imperative that this Court follow the First Circuit’s 

approach and apply the four-factor test to determine the appropriateness of a permanent injunction. 

Greenlawn is at least entitled to the traditional test for injunctive relief employed by the court 

in Martin. For this reason, the District Court’s decision to permanently enjoin Greenlawn’s 

beneficial use of water from the Howard Runnet Dam should be reversed and remanded for 

application of the four-factor test. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Appellee, the United States Army Corps, respectfully requests 

that this Court affirm the District Court’s rulings as to Greenlawn’s right to the flow of water, the 

operation of the Howard Runnet Dam Works as non-discretionary, and that Greenlawn’s actions 

constituted a taking. However, this Court should reverse the District Court’s injunction and 

remand with instructions to balance the equities. 
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